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among the Belgians of Door County. He told his hearers
that the present Catholic Church had departed from the
faith of the Fathers and was just as filled with error as
were the professions of the Spiritualists. Being an able
speaker and of very winning personal appearance, he gain-
ed many supporters. He also preached regularly in Dyckes-
ville, Red River and Duvall and obtained many converts,
but not so many as in Gardner. In 1888 a large church,
named The Church of the Precious Blood,was built in Gard-
ner and also a large guild-hall and parsonage. These build-
ings were at that time the most imposing in the entire Bel-
gian settlement and were made possible by the generosity
of Rev. Charles C. Grafton who later became the Episcopal
bishop of Fond du Lac.? Father Villatte did not believe the
Spiritualists would remain long in the field, and with judi-
cious circumspection located his church halfway between
the two Catholic churches, feeling sure that the highway
difficulty due to the swamp was a matter of only temporary
inconvenience which would soon be remedied. This made
four churches all within one mile.

Mr. Villatte also conceived the ambition of creating an
Episcopal college on the peninsula, and plans and prepara-
tions were made for erecting it on a forty-acre tract of land
adjoining the church property on the south side. As Vil-
latte had remarkable success in solociting directions from
outside friends of his enterprise, the out look for the pro-

2 The principal benefactor of the church was Mrs. Mary
G. Waterbury as appears from an inscription on a brass
tablet on the wall of the church near the altar. It reads:
“A. D. 1886. To the Glory of God and in loving memory
of Chauncey A. Waterbury—1817-1876 — The Glebe on
which this church is built is given by his widow—Mary
G. Waterbury.”
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posed college was good. Old Henry Gigot says, almost every
day Villatte would show us a bunch of checks which he had
received. He also received large quantities of clothing and
shoes which he distributed among the Belgians.”

Having succeeded so well in proselyting, which is not
often indulged in by Episcopalians, he now conceived the
ambition of becoming a bishop. He went to his old bene-
factor, Bishop C. C. Grafton, and begged him to consecrate
him as a bishop, assuring him that this recognition by the
Church would result n his conquest of the entire Belgian
settlement. As Villatte had only two small congregations
in his proposed diocese, Bishop Grafton thought the réquest
was rather premature and declined, whereupon Mr. Villatte
set out to seek a bishop’s mitre in other parts. From state
to state he travelled and from country to country, until
finally on the island of Ceylon in the Indian Ocean he found
a Jacobite bishop in the city of Colombo who was persuaded
to consecrate him. Exultantly he returned to Door County
to build his college only to meet total defeat; for his breth-
ren in the ministry, after investigation, claimed that his
consecration had been obtained by fraud and misrepresenta-
tion. This was followed by excommunication. Villatte de-
parted to parts unknown leaving many staunch friends be-
hind him among the Belgians, for he had gained their trust
and affection. For a while the work that he had begun was
carried on very ably by Rev. J. B. Gauthier, but upon his
death it began to decline. The church, guild-hall and par-
sonage in Gardner still stand pretty among the trees, but
the congregation now numbers only about eighteen fam-
ilies.®

3 Rev. Villatte’s work in Gardner and his later sacerdotal
ambitions form an interesting chapter in A. P. Curtiss’
History of the Diocese of Fond du Lac, 1925, Chapter IIL
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The Church of St. John the Baptist, or Robin’s Church
as it is generally called, was destroyed by fire in 1894. The
little “cemetery in the air” still remains, a great object of
curiosity, although its walls have largely crumbled. Most
of the members of the church joined the parish of St. Fran-
cis Xavier in the adjoining part of Brussels which was or-
ganized in 1877. The present beautiful church was erected
in 1909.

Another outstanding monument to the religious devo-
tion of the Catholics who worship there is the new St. Hu-
bert’s Church now being built at Rosiere. This parish was
from the first the most compact and leading part of the en-
tire Belgian settlement and is also now leading in the
dignity of its house of worship. The parish lies half in Door
County and half in Kewaunee County. Another church on
the county line six miles west of Rosiere is known as St.
Francis du Paul.

The Belgians are a very religious people and, superin-
tended by the present devoted and capable pastors, their
church affairs ar reported to be peaceful and harmonious.
But according to creditable testimony it was not always
s0. Mr. Xavier Martin, who was an intelligent and well in-
formed observer who lived a lifetime in the settlement,
gives the following characteristic of some of the early
pastors: “The priest was hard to get, and when one would
come he was generally a poor specimen of his kind. Some
of them were so avaricious that they would refuse to bury
a dead child because the parents did not have the ready cash
to pay for their services; others were dissipated, some were
habitual drunkards; and it was not rare to see a row break
out in a church during the service, between the priest and
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the officers of his church, terminating in a regular fight, in
which there generally came out a whipped priest”.# Such
experiences have not been reported from Door County. Mr.
Martin lived in the adjoining part of Kewaunee County.

+ TheBelgians of Northeast Wisconsin in Wis. Hist. Colls.
(1895) VIII, page 384.



